IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLARENCE JAMES JONES,

Defendant/Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO.: 74,866

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT CLARENCE JAMES JONES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, SECOND JUDICIAL

CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 88-3111-CF

CLIFFORD L. DAVIS 1105 Hays Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 224-8429

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLARENCE JAMES JONES,

Defendant/Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO.: 74,866

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT CLARENCE JAMES JONES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 88-3111-CF

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Clarence Jones was indicted, along with Irvin Griffin, and Henry Joseph Goins, by the Grand Jury with first degree murder of Tallahassee Police Officer, Ernest Ponce De Leon. (R-1). In addition, they were charged with attempted murder of Tallahassee Police Officer Greg Armstrong in Count II, and of robbery of Officer Ponce De Leon by taking his pistol after his death. In Count IV Appellant and Griffin were charged with burglary of a dwelling, and the two were charged in Count V with aggravated assault on a civilian. (R-2).

The Goins case was disposed of by pleas to lesser charges prior to trial. Griffin was tried with Appellant, convicted and sentenced to life.

Prior to trial, the State added a charge of aggravated assault to Appellant by information (R-214) and Count V was nolle prossed. (R-160).

After a trial, Appellant and Griffin were found guilty as charged of murder in the first degree. (R-129). Appellant was also convicted of Count IV attempted murder (R-130), robbery (R-131), burglary of a dwelling (R-132), and aggravated assault with a firearm (R-133).

The jury re-convened to hear the penalty phase and a vote of eleven to one recommended a sentence of death for Appellant. (R-161).

On September 26, 1989, Appellant was sentenced to death

on Count I, life on Count II, life on Count III, life on Count IV, and five years on Count I of the consolidated information. (R-105-209).

The Court made findings to support an upward departure from the sentencing guidelines, (R-294) a timely appeal was filed herein. (R-293).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Due to the nature of the case and the large amount of the pre-trial publicity the parties agreed to a juror questionaire covering critical issues in the case. Pre-trial publicity, extreme feelings based on the fact that Appellant was an escaped convict and the victim a police officer, and whether or not individual jurors had religious, moral or personal views concerning the death penalty.

On the subject of the death penalty, jurors were asked if they had scruples against the death penalty itself. Secondly, they were asked whether or not those views were such that they would not consider a verdict of guilty, and finally if they were to consider a verdict of guilty were their views such that they would not under any circumstance vote to impose the death penalty.

Jurors who answered yes to the question of opposition to the death penalty fell into three basic categories. One category stated that under no conditions would they vote for a guilty verdict. The jurors who answered in this fashion did not draw objections by the defense to the States challenge for cause. (R-541, R-569, R-571, R-664, R-701, R-717, R-900, R-987, R-1001, R-1049). Another group of jurors stated that they were opposed to the death penalty, but could consider the evidence and return a verdict of guilty. In this category some stated that they would vote to impose the death penalty and some stated that they would have difficulty or could not vote to impose death.

In the last two categories the defense posed objections to challenges for cause. Jurors in these two categories were systematically excluded by the Court. (R-891, R-900, R-950, R-966, R-974, R-988). In addition, the State systematically challenged for cause any juror that voice opposition to the death penalty. In those cases where the juror clearly stated that it would not interfere in any fashion in his ability to reach a verdict of guilty and to return a recommendation of death, the Court overruled these challenges. (R-577, R-846, R-1001, R-1015).

In some instances the defense did not object because there were other grounds considered by Appellant to be proper grounds for cause. $(R-541,\ R-1046)$.

The effect of the Courts rulings were to completely eliminate from the jury pool potential jurors with scruples against the death penalty, but who could consider the evidence at both the trial and penalty phase.

On the morning of July 8, 1988, Tallahassee Police Department dispatcher received a call from the Lake Bradford Laundromat. (R-1451). The caller advised that there was a car parked behind the laundromat and there were a lot of guys in the car. The caller advised that there were black and white males. Officer Greg Armstrong was dispatched to the scene. (R-1453). He was backed up by Tallahassee Police Officer, Ernest Ponce De Leon.

The dispatcher's tape of that morning was played for the

jury in the ensuing half hour Officer Ponce De Leon was dead and three subjects, including the Defendant herein, were taken into custody. All of the Defendants were suffering from gunshot wounds of varying degrees of severity. (R-1468). In the next twenty minutes of the dispatcher's tape there was additional discussion, including discussion of the possibility of other suspects in the area. (R-1387).

Greg Armstrong began his testimony at page 1490. He testified that he was dispatched to the scene at 1918 Lake Bradford Road behind the laundromat. (R-1494). Officer Ponce De Leon was in the area and voluntarily agreed to back up Officer Armstrong. (R-1495). He related that he was the first to arrive at the scene and observed a green Chevrolet Capri parked toward the rear of the laundromat. (R-1499). He walked up to the vehicle and observed four people in the car. A white male behind the driver seat, later identified as Henry Joseph Goins, a black female, later identified as Beverly Harris, in the rear seat behind him, a person in green hospital scrubs on the passenger side rear, and a black male sitting across from the driver in the front. (R-1501).

Officer Ponce De Leon went to the passenger side of the vehicle and eventually moved to the rear to attempt to run a tag on the computer. (R-1592). While attempting to check the identification and bag of the white male and black female on the driver's side of the vehicle, he looked up across the roof

of the car to the passenger side, and saw a black male fire two rounds in the direction where he had last seen Officer Ponce De Leon. (R-1510). He recalls seeing a six inch blue steel revolver in the hand of the assailant. (R-1510). Officer Armstrong drew his weapon and returned fire at the person he saw fire the shots and then engaged the other occupants of the vehicle in a gun battle. (R-1515).

At some point in the gun battle the vehicle had begun to move until it struck another vehicle in the parking lot. (R-1528). At that point the two black males left the vehicle and ran from the scene. (R-1529).

When Officer Armstrong was able to check on Officer Ponce

De Leon again, he found him lying on his back toward the rear

of where the vehicle had originally been parked. (R-1533).

He had two bullet holes in his chest. He looked for Officer

Ponce De Leon's gun and was unable to find it on his body or

in the area. (R-1534). He knew Officer Ponce De Leon to carry

a nine millimeter Beretta semi-automatic pistol. (R-1535).

He stayed with the stricken officer until Sergeant Dozier arrived. (R-1536). Shortly thereafter numerous other officers arrived on the scene and assisted in the search for evidence and for suspects. (R-1538).

Numerous witnesses from various law enforcement agencies were called to describe the scene and blood trail that eventually led to the house where Appellant and Defendant Griffin were captured.

Without objection a view of the scene was conducted and a large number of exhibits presented to the jury relating to the physical evidence seized in the case, including the autopsy of the deceased.

Dr. Greg Alexander testified that he had reviewed the autopsy report off Dr. Wood. That report concluded, and he concurred, that the cause of death of Officer Ponce De Leon was a gun shot wound to the chest. He identified two wounds in the chest area of the victim. He testified that the effect of a person receiving that kind of wound to the heart would be the blood pressure to immediately to go to zero, and the patient would be rendered unresponsive virtually immediately. (R-2566).

A number of civilian witnesses testified about events in the area contiguous to the Lake Bradford Road location. Lynn Black, Jr., age ten, testified that he lives at 2017 Warwick Street on July 8, 1988. (R-1759). He and a friend, La Duane, were alone in the house watching T.V. when two black men entered the house, one of them had a gun. (R-1761). When one of them went in the kitchen and the other in the bedroom trying to hide the gun, Black testified that he and La Duane shot out the screen door. (R-1753).

Sindy Clarence Earle testified that he was presently sleeping in Lawty, Florida compliments of the Florida Department of Corrections. He had been convicted of a felony or a crime involving dishonesty and false statements seven times. In July 1988 he

was living at 2009 Warwick. (R-1811). Early that morning he heard a knocking at the door. (R-1813). He saw blood on the steps and for some reason that caused him to check on the Black's house. (R-1816). He approached the Black's house, and one of the persons therein stuck a gun in his face and told him to go in. (R-1817). Another man was sitting on the corner of the sofa on the left side by the air conditioner; there was blood on both of the occupants. (R-1818). The black male with the green doctor suit was holding a gun. Earle told him he would do whatever he wanted him to do. He was directed to assist in pulling the clothing off of the individual. He was told if he didn't do what he said he would be killed. (R-1820).

He described the gun as looking like a nine millimeter, that it was big and it was silver. (R-1810). After being shown a photograph of the weapon, he recalled that it was black. (R-1811).

Appellant proffered a line of cross examination of Mr. Earle. (R-1854-R-1874). When he attempted to cross examine Sindy Earle to connect Mr. Earle to Beverly Harris and Carolyn Roberts, and being at Lake Bradford Road on the morning of July 8, 1988, for the purpose of finishing a crack cocaine deal that they had begun earlier on the evening of July 7, 1988, there was objection by the State.

A proffer was made of Appellant's theory of defense. Appellant tried to show the motive and credibility of the witnesses Sindy

Earle and Beverly Harris; and to show that Mr. Earle was co-perpetrator of the crime. On page 1874 the Court restricted counsel from that line of cross examination despite the ruling of Coxwell v. State, 361 S.2d 148 (Supreme Ct. of Fla., 1978), and Rule 612 paren 2 of the evidence code. Again at page 1877, Appellant proffered two questions that he specifically wished to ask Mr. Earle, 1) whether or not he was a crack dealer, and 2) had he ever dealt crack cocaine. After a bench conference that request was denied. (R-1877-R-1878).

Beverly Harris testified commencing at page 2382. She is currently in the custody of the Department of Corrections for violation of parole. She had been convicted four times of a felony or crimes involving dishonesty or false statements.

She testified that she had met Appellant, co-defendant Goins, and co-defendant Griffin in St. Augustine, that none of those individuals had ever been to Tallahassee, Florida and that she agreed to travel with them. She stayed in the room with Irvin Griffin. Goins and Appellant stayed together during the course of their travel. She was familiar with the Tallahassee area, having endured one or more of her criminal convictions in that jurisdiction. On the morning of July 8, 1988, she related she was in the car with Griffin, Goins, and Appellant. They had gone to the laundromat on Lake Bradford Road according to her to do some laundry. She described what happened when Officer Armstrong and Officer Ponce De Leon came to the scene and related

that Clarence Jones is the man who shot Officer Ponce De Leon.

Griffin had shown her the gun in the car and related that they were escapees from prison in Maryland. (R-2412).

Counsel had proffered a question to the Court to cross examine Ms. Harris on prior drug dealings from 1984-1988. It was Appellant's position that by her previous drug dealings she obtained knowledge of drug dealers in the French Town area, and thereby knew through the contacts. The Court denied Appellant the opportunity to ask those questions. (R-2458).

Ms. Harris testified that while in the Bomd area looking for drugs, she saw an individual known to her as Carolyn. It was Carolyn, she testified, who took Jones and Goins to find drugs. She stated that Carolyn use to be a client of hers at ECHO. (R-2466).

Harris testified that it was her idea to go to the Lake Bradford Road area to wash clothes, although when they arrived at the laundry, she did not start doing any laundry, (R-2472), and according to Mr. James Ebeling there was a laundry a block away from the motel where the group was staying. (R-2518).

Harris testified that she had previously identified the gun that Jones had at the time of the killing to be a silver hand gun. (R-2490). She related that she had been in shock and confused, but was not so confused to where she could give a false name to avoid arrest for parole violation. (R-2488).

The State made a proffer of the testimony of Larry Bennett

at page 2721. Mr. Bennett was the lieutenant with the Baltimore City Police Department. In March of 1978 while on uniformed patrol, he had been shot and severely wounded by a person identified as co-defendant Griffin. During the incident he was checking the registration and identification of the occupants of the vehicle. (R-2725). The evidence was admitted as Williams Rule evidence against the Defendant Griffin only. After the proffer at page 2748, Appellant through counsel objected on the grounds that the evidence was inadmissible and being irrelevant as to the Defendant Jones. Due to the nature of the evidence there was an extreme prejudicial spill over that should have been excluded under Rule 403. (R-2749). After a conference in which Mr. Bennett's evidence was limited somewhat by the Court, he was permitted to testify commencing at page 2766, that he had been shot by Irvin Griffin under circumstances similar to those that existed in the instant case. This evidence was extremely prejudicial to Appellant due to the fact that Griffin and Jones were tied together by being prison inmates, by having a record for violent crimes, and by being traveling companions and in the same vehicle at the time in which Officer Ponce De Leon was murdered.

Appellant proffered at page 2837 the testimony of Officer Berkley Clayton. He identified as series of tape recorded statements under oath taken from Beverly Harris the day of the murder in which she made statements contrary to her trial testimony. The statements were taken by Clayton and Assistant State Attorney,

Pottinger, who is now trial counsel. (R-2838). The sworn state-ments were offered as impeachment and as exceptions under Rule 801.

The State objected citing <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1987), and <u>Delgado Santos v. State</u>, 471 So.2d 74 (Fla. App. 3 Dist. 1985). The Court did not allow the testimony to be admitted.

Jones called a series of witnesses who were present at the scene commencing at page 2851 thru page 2936. These witnesses placed a number of individuals at the scene in addition to the two people that Officer Armstrong said he saw run from the area. Carolyn Roberts was then called by Appellant. (R-2936). She testified she knew Beverly Harris. In July 1988 she was at a friends house on Apalachee Ridge, and saw Beverly with Irvin Griffin and Clarence Jones. (R-2937). They were in a car driven by Ms. Harris. (R-2938). Roberts got in the car and was taken to the Travel Lodge Motel on West Tennessee, where she met an individual she referred to as the white dude. (R-2910). She testified that Clarence and the white dude took her to the Whataburger on Lake Bradford Road to pick up her god-daughter. (R-2941). She did not buy any drugs for them or take them to French Town or Bomd Community. (R-2912).

Appellant testified in his own defense commencing at page 2955. He testified that while on escape status from the Maryland State Penitentiary he met Beverly Harris in Jacksonville. She

directed the group, including himself, Griffin, and Henry Goins to Tallahassee. (R-2969). She had obtained drugs for the group in Jacksonville before they left. (R-2970). During the course of the events that culminated with the arrest of Appellant on July 8, 1988, she, Goins, and Jones used drugs frequently if not constantly.

He stated that on the first day they were in Tallahassee,
Beverly Harris took him and Mr. Griffin to somewhere around Joe
Lewis Street and some projects to obtain drugs. (R-2973). He
stated that Carolyn Roberts rode around with the group showing
them people from whom they could buy drugs. (R-2974). He, Roberts,
Harris, and Goins did drugs including crack cocaine, powder,
rock, reefer, and drank alcohol back at the motel. (R-2974).
On the night the group stayed in the Travel Lodge, Ms. Harris
again took them to buy drugs. (R-2975). They went to an area
in French Town near a pool hall, Ms. Harris directed them to
two or three areas near the pool hall where they ultimately bought
some powdered cocaine, and marijuana. (R-2979).

Later that evening, Ms. Harris again took Jones back to French Town, and introduced him to somebody for the purpose of buying drugs. (R-2981). He and Harris went back and forth several times that evening to French Town to buy crack, powder, and reefer. (R-2983).

At some point in the evening Mr. Griffin became concerned about the continuing drug use of his companions and decided that

PAGE(S) MISSING

they would leave the next morning for New Orleans. (R-2998). Ms. Harris again took Appellant and Griffin to the pool hall to make arrangements to buy drugs. (R-2999).

The next morning the group went to a restaurant near the area of the Travel Lodge and bought some coffee. (R-3001).

After obtaining coffee, Ms. Harris took the group to an area with a laundromat, which turned out to be the murder scene. (R-3004). Her purpose in taking them there was to see if a guy could get some more drugs before they left. (R-3005). Once they arrived there was no effort made to take out any laundry bags or to go inside the laundry. (R-3005).

Ms. Harris left the car and came back shortly with a black male. (R-3007). It was the same person that they had earlier met in the area near the pool room, where the group had purchased some drugs from him. (R-3007). The intention of the group was to trade some of the guns to that individual for drugs. (R-3008). He was sitting in the passenger seat looking at the .357 when the officers arrived. During the time the officers were inquiring of the occupants of the car that individual got up and shot Officer Ponce De Leon. (R-3013).

Appellant and Griffin had both been shot. They left the area and went up the street. (R-3018). At that point Jones had the nine millimeter Beretta that he had picked near the slain officer's body. (R-3019).

They went into a house that a little boy was coming out

of which had the door open. The same man that he had earlier seen in French Town, whom he met that morning at the laundromat, was the man who shot the policeman. This man assisted him in removing his clothing. (R-3021-R-3022). He testified that he did not shoot the policeman.

In the penalty phase, the State introduced evidence of Appellant's prior convictions. (R-3431). Jones called Dr. Laurence Annis, forensic psychologist, for the purpose of establishing his medical and mental history. He testified from interviews and prison records from the State of Maryland. He described Appellant as borderline retarded or dull normal. (R-3439-R-3447).

The State was permitted to argue and the Court instructed over objection that the following improper aggravating factors existed (1) the murder constituted a great risk of harm to other persons, (2) the murder was for the purpose of effecting a robbery; (3) that Jones' conviction of burglary while armed and aggravated assault at the instant trial were applicable. (R-3499-R-3502).

POINTS ON APPEAL

POINT I

WHETHER OR NOT THE COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING AS JURORS THOSE WHO WERE OPPOSED TO THE DEATH PENALTY, BUT COULD REACH A VERDICT OF GUILTY?

POINT II

WHETHER OR NOT THE COURT ERRED IN RESTRICTING CROSS EXAMINATION OF SINDY EARLE AND BEVERLY HARRIS?

POINT III

WHETHER OR NOT THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING WILLIAMS RULE EVIDENCE AGAINST THE CO-DEFENDANT?

POINT IV

WHETHER OR NOT THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS USE OF WILLIAMS RULE EVIDENCE INVOLVING STATE WITNESSES SINDY EARLE AND BEVERLY HARRIS?

POINT V

WHETHER OR NOT THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS PROFFER OF PRIOR SWORN TESTIMONY BEVERLY HARRIS?

POINT VI

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