### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



CLARENCE JONES,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 74,866

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

THE COURT: Well, I think that Witherspoon, Adams, and Witt, go a little bit beyond that. In fact, in Witherspoon, there was a two-part test that dealt first with the ability to return a verdict of guilty and the second part dealing with the jurors ability under any circumstance to recommend death. And I think if we have a situation where we have a juror who says I could return a verdict of guilty but my religious scruples are such that -- let me see if I've got the right one here. This is Mr. Sherman.

One question 1(b), he said, 'Are your personal views such that you could not consider recommending a death sentence even you found the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances?'

I think if you have a juror who is saying that his views are so strong that he could not under any circumstance even consider recommending death, then he does qualify for exclusion for cause by the State. So the State's challenge on Mr. Sherman will be granted.

(TR 997-998).

Beyond per adventure, none of the jurors heretofore noted as being excused for cause were done so in error. See Buchanan v. Kentucky, 483 U.S. 402 (1987); Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168 (1986); Lockhart v. McCree, 476 U.S. 162 (1986); Randolph v. State, 562 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1990); Hamilton v. State, 547 So.2d 630 (Fla. 1989), and Hill v. State, 477 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1985), wherein the court held:

When any reasonable doubt exists as to whether a juror possesses a state of mind necessary to render an impartial recommendation as to punishment, the juror must be excused for cause.

Pursuant to Wainwright v. Witt, supra, the trial court applied the applicable standard and made correct determinations based on his viewing of the prospective jurors and the inquiries made. See Floyd v. State, \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Fla. September 13, 1990), at slip opinion, page 7. Jones has demonstrated no basis upon which relief should be granted on this point.

### ISSUE II

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RESTRICTING CROSS EXAMINATION OF SINDY EARLE AND BEVERLY HARRIS?

Appellant next takes issue with what he perceives to be a limitation on the cross examination of two State witnesses, in particular, Sindy Earle and Beverly Harris. Appellant argues that the limitation of cross examination impacted greatly on the what the defense presented and as such, prevented him from fully developing a defense. (Appellant's Brief, page 23). In particular, Appellant argues that: "the questions related to prior relationship between the parties, whether either were drug dealers and whether or not the two arranged drug transactions which led to the drama on Lake Bradford Road", were essential to Clarence Jones' case. Appellee would disagree and submits the record belies such an allegation.

On cross examination of Sindy Earle, defense counsel sought to inquire as to whether Earle had previously met Beverly Harris; if Earle was a crack dealer; if Earle had been involved in a crack deal at 3:00 a.m., July 8, 1988; if Earle had been present at the Express Lane the morning of the murder when the police arrived; whether Earle had gone to the Black's house thirty minutes before he testified he went there. (TR 1835-1854). The State had no objection as to inquiries on cross as to whether Earle knew Beverly Harris or any facts and circumstances surrounding possible drug deals at the time of the murder. However, they did object to whether Earle did a crack deal at 3:00 a.m., July 8, 1988, without putting it into context. (TR The court, after hearing extensive argument, ruled that 1855). defense counsel could inquire of Sindy Earle as to whether he knew Beverly Harris; whether he planned to meet her anytime contemporaneous to the day of the murder; whether he had met her to do a crack deal contemporaneous to the day of the murder but could not ask Earle whether he was a crack dealer or convicted of (TR 1867). When cross examination being a drug dealer. continued, defense counsel inquired of Earle whether he knew Beverly Harris, to which Mr. Earle said he did not. Defense counsel asked whether he knew Beverly Harris under any other name, Earle said he did not. (TR 1873-1874). Earle denied being at the Travelodge on July 7, 1988, and stated that he did not know Carolyn Roberts. (TR 1874). He said he did not go to the Black's home thirty or forty minutes before Clarence Jones and Griffin showed up. He only made one trip to the Black's house

with his son that morning. (TR 1875). Earle testified that he did not meet anyone at the Express Lane earlier the morning of the murder and that he did not negotiate any crack deals. (TR 1875-1876).

Defense counsel again sought to inquire of Mr. Earle of whether he was a crack dealer or had he ever dealt in crack The court, after hearing further oral (TR 1877). cocaine. argument, denied defense counsel's request but noted that defense if facts and circumstances counsel may revisit this issue developed through other defense witnesses that contradicted Earle's testimony with regard to his drug dealings and his connection with Beverly Harris the morning just prior to the Indeed, the State stipulated that if murder. (TR 1878). evidence came out that would bear on the relevance of asking whether Earle was a crack dealer, the State would have no objections to the question being asked at that time. (TR 1878).

When cross examination continued, defense counsel asked whether, on July 7, 1988, during the late hours of that evening, Earle was in Frenchtown or at Crump's Tavern, to which he said no. (TR 1879). On re-direct by the State, Earle testified the first time he went to the Black's house the morning of July 8, 1988, was when he followed a trail of blood after someone had knocked on his door. When he got there he told his son to go home to his mother. (TR 1882). When he returned later that day, it was only after he had gone downtown to the police department and given a statement. When he returned, Mr. and Mrs. Black were home and neither defendant was present. (TR 1883).

With regard to the cross examination of Beverly Harris, defense counsel sought to inquire of Ms. Harris whether she was a prostitute to which the State objected and said objection was sustained. (TR 2433). Defense counsel sought to elicit through cross examination whether Beverly Harris knew any drug dealers in 1984-1986, when she lived in Tallahassee, Florida. (TR 2445). Additionally, defense counsel sought to inquire as to whether she used drugs or had drug dealings during that period of time. (TR The court concluded that no predicate had been 2445 - 2448). properly presented to introduce whether Beverly Harris had prior use of drugs or whether she knew drug dealers in 1984. The court reasoned that any knowledge of drug dealers in 1984 had little or no impact and was totally inadmissible with regard to the facts and circumstances surrounding the murder of Officer Ponce de Leon on July 8, 1988. (TR 2453).

The court did indicate that it would permit questions regarding any drug dealings about the night before and the use of drugs that had a direct bearing on the murder or the facts and circumstances leading to the murder. (TR 2454-2458). When cross examination commenced, Harris testified that she was familiar with Frenchtown and that she took Griffin, Jones and Goins there on July 7, 1988. She testified that they wanted to buy drugs and so she took them down there because she knew that is where drugs were sold. When they saw police standing around, they just rode through, thwarted in their efforts. (TR 2459). They next went to Crump's Tavern in the Bond area because she again testified she knew drugs were sold there. (TR 2460). No one would sell

- 57 -

them drugs in the area because they believed that Beverly Harris and the group she was with were cops. (TR 2462). Ms. Harris testified she did not know Sindy Earle (TR 2462), and she did introduce Jones, Griffin and Goins to Carolyn Roberts and told them that Carolyn Roberts knew where to get drugs. (TR 2465-2466). Ms. Harris admitted to smoking marijuana on July 7, 1988, and drinking J&B Scotch that evening. Although they found cocaine on her person when she was arrested, she did not have an explanation as to why it was there or how it got there. She testified that she did not go out and score drugs that evening but it was Carolyn Roberts who went out with them to buy drugs. She further testified that Carolyn Roberts was not her buddy. (TR 2493-2494). On re-direct examination, Ms. Harris testified that she was not covering up for Sindy Earle because she did not (TR 2504). She admitted that she had dated know Sindy Earle. George Glover six to seven months while she was living in Tallahassee but no further inquiries were made of her regarding Mr. Glover. (TR 2507).

No further objections were made regarding any restrictions with regard to closing arguments on no re-cross was offered by defense counsel Davis with regard to Ms. Harris.

Beyond per adventure, the limitation as to cross examination in the instant case was well founded based on the discussions presented in this trial transcript. The restrictions with regard to cross examination fell within the permissible latitude given the trial court in ascertaining the admissibility of evidence presented at trial. Contrary to Appellant's contention, **Coxwell** 

- 58 -

v. State, 361 So.2d 149 (Fla. 1978), does not mandate reversal

sub judice. As noted in Coxwell v. State, supra:

Our conclusion here should not be construed suggest that the scope of cross to examination is wholly without bounds, nor discretionary detailment of the that a inquiry before exceeds those limits can never be harmless error if no prejudice can be We only hold that where a demonstrated. criminal defendant in a capital case, while exercising his Sixth Amendment right to confront and cross examine the witnesses against him, inquires of a key prosecution witness regarding matters which are both germane to that witnesses testimony on direct examination and plausibly relevant to the defense, and abuse of discretion by the trial court in curtailing that inquiry may easily constitute reversible error. In the present case, it clearly did.

361 So.2d at 152.

In Maggard v. State, 399 So.2d 973 (Fla. 1981), the court

observed:

Maggard challenges his conviction on several grounds. He first contends that the trial court erred in sustaining the State's objection to certain questions asked of two State witnesses on cross examination. We reject this contention and hold that he was not prejudicially and improperly restricted in his cross examination of these witnesses and that the court acted properly within its broad range of discretion sustaining the State's objections. In the absence of a showing of abuse of discretion, we will not disturb the trial court's evidentiary ruling. Mikenas v. State, 367 So.2d 606 (Fla. 1978); Hoy v. State, 353 So.2d 826 (Fla. 1977), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 920, 99 S.Ct. 293, 58 L.Ed.2d 265 (1978).

399 So.2d at 975. See also Scott v. State, 411 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1982); Jackson v. State, 530 So.2d 269, 271-272 (Fla. 1988); Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981). Moreover, even assuming for the moment the trial court erred in restricting cross examination **sub judice**, the error is beyond any question of a doubt, harmless error. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); Fuente v. State, 549 So.2d 652 (Fla. 1989); Houston v. State, 540 So.2d 943 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); Hill v. State, 501 So.2d 164 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987), and Livingston v. State, \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Fla. March 10, 1988), rehearing denied (September 6, 1990); Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 425 U.S. 673 (1986). Based on the foregoing, no relief should be forthcoming as to this claim.

## ISSUE III

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING WILLIAMS RULE EVIDENCE AGAINST THE CO-DEFENDANT?

Appellant next argues that the trial court erred in admitting evidence of co-defendant Griffin regarding his earlier conviction for shooting a police officer in Maryland. He acknowledges that the trial court was properly instructed that the evidence did not relate to him but argues that the trial court should have granted his motion for mistrial and motion to severe.

The record reflects the State proffered the testimony of Lt. Larry Bennett as a result of defense counsel Taylor's motion in limine filed in behalf of co-defendant Griffin. (TR 2720). During the course of the proffer, Lt. Bennett testified that he was a victim of a gunshot wound while making a routine car stop in Baltimore, Maryland. (TR 2722). He testified that as a uniformed police officer, he pulled a car over because of erratic driving, and the driver presented to him his driver's license. The officer returned to his vehicle to do a routine check. (TR While sitting in the patrol car, Lt. Bennett saw the 2723). driver and the passenger moving around in the car and made a conscious decision to return to the vehicle. (TR 2724). When he approached, the passenger began to fire at him. (TR 2725). Three shots were fired each hit him in the upper left portion of (TR 2726). He heard voices discussing whether he his back. should be finished off (TR 2727), and saw the individuals running off. (TR 2728). The search of the car revealed that the car had been stolen and that the owner had been shot and locked in the (TR 2728). He positively identified the person who shot trunk. him in 1978 as Irvin Griffin. (TR 2729). At the close of the proffer, Griffin's counsel, Taylor, asserted that it was improper Williams Rule to admit said evidence. Clarence Jones' counsel, Davis, objected as to the relevancy to his client, arguing that the spill-over would be extremely prejudicial. (TR 2748). Although Jones was not mentioned by Bennett, the court ultimately ruled that:

> . . . The bear bone scenario of the facts of the defendant Griffin having fired a shot at a police officer who was checking his I.D. when he knew he was in a stolen car is something that I think has a bearing on the question of motive, intent or identity.

> I am going to allow that to be presented to the jury with a cautionary instruction that he's not on trial for that. And with a cautionary instruction that the evidence is not to be taken against the defendant Jones.

> It is offered solely against the defendant Griffin and should not be considered against the defendant Jones. So, I guess what I'm

saying is I agree with part of your argument about Taylor that some of this evidence is irrelevant and some of it, even if it is relevant, or logically relevant, if not legally relevant because the prejudicial effect of it outweighs the probative value.

So, I'm going to do what you say you want to do; that is, to permit the witness to give testimony that has a bearing on the question of motive without effecting the trial with a good deal of other information that I feel will certainly cause problems later on.

2754-2755.

Following this discussion, defense counsel moved for a mistrial and a motion for obtaining a severance based upon the ruling. (TR 2762).

The State ultimately called Lt. Bennett who testified that in March of 1978, he was a uniformed police officer in Baltimore, Maryland. (TR 2767). On March 23, 1978, while on duty, he was shot during a routine car stop while checking a license tag. (TR 2768). When he returned to the car he saw a passenger aim a gun at him and shoot three times. He was shot three times in the upper left portion of his back. (TR 2771-2772). He positively identified Irvin Griffin as the man who shot him. (TR 2773).

Prior to this testimony, the court instructed the jury regarding the limited purpose of Lt. Bennett's testimony regarding Irvin Griffin. (TR 2765). The court specifically informed the jury that they were not to consider any of this evidence with regard to Clarence Jones. (TR 2766).

Clearly no prejudice accured to Clarence Jones. The jury was specifically instructed that said testimony had nothing to do with Clarence Jones. Moreover, the testimony of Lt. Bennett in no way involved Clarence Jones with regard to the 1978 shooting incident of Lieutenant Bennett by Griffin. In every joint trial spillover occurs. Note: Duckett v. State, \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Fla. September 6, 1990). Even assuming for the moment the trial court erred in allowing said testimony as it relates to Clarence Jones, said error was harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence regarding Clarence Jones' guilt in the murder of Officer Ponce De Leon. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Moreover, Appellant has cited no authority in which mandates reversal sub judice. See Haliburton v. State, 561 So.2d 248 (Fla. 1990).

#### ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S USE OF WILLIAMS RULE EVIDENCE INVOLVING STATE WITNESSES SINDY EARLE AND BEVERLY HARRIS?

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